Texas A&M University-San Antonio

Digital Commons @ Texas A&M University-San Antonio

Masters Theses

Student Works

Fall 12-2023

Supporting a More Equitable Learning Environment: Implications of Person-Centered Practices on Teacher Self-Efficacy

Angela Menchaca angela.menchaca@jaguar.tamu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.tamusa.edu/masters_theses

Part of the Curriculum and Instruction Commons

Recommended Citation

Menchaca, Angela, "Supporting a More Equitable Learning Environment: Implications of Person-Centered Practices on Teacher Self-Efficacy" (2023). *Masters Theses*. 17. https://digitalcommons.tamusa.edu/masters_theses/17

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ Texas A&M University-San Antonio. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ Texas A&M University-San Antonio. For more information, please contact deirdre.mcdonald@tamusa.edu.

SUPPORTING A MORE EQUITABLE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT: IMPLICATIONS OF PERSON-CENTERED PRACTICES ON TEACHER SELF-EFFICACY

A Thesis by:

Angela Menchaca

Submitted to Office of Graduate Studies Texas A&M University-San Antonio in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

December 2023

Major Subject: Curriculum and Instruction: Teaching in Diverse Communities

Department of Curriculum and Instruction

ABSTRACT

Supporting a more equitable learning environment: implications of person-centered practices on

teacher self-efficacy

(December 2023)

Angela Menchaca Thesis Advisor: Michael Mary

This research aimed to identify any implications Person-Centered Thinking training has on creating an equitable learning environment. Through an Embedded Mixed Methods study the researcher utilized the CRTSE and CRTOE instruments to collect quantitative data. Two rounds of interview questions were conducted to collect qualitative data. Quantitative and qualitative data was analyzed to identify comparisons in self-efficacy, outcome expectancy, and personcentered practices. The Person-Centered Thinking training received by participants was an adapted version of The Learning Community's PCT training curriculum. The sample size included two participants. Collectively participants had 14 years of teaching experience in grades K-12. One participant is a high school teacher and the other is an instructional specialist. A rudimentary analysis of the quantitative data was performed. Qualitative data went through two cycles of coding that produced the emergent themes identified. Findings provided evidence of PCT training supporting equitable learning environments.

Dedication

For my grandma who always encouraged me to learn and played teacher with me, even though her school experience prevented her completing or going beyond first grade. My grandmother has been one of the greatest teachers in my life. Everything she taught me so long ago remains true and relevant. There isn't a day that passes that I don't apply her teachings.

For every person young and wise that hoped someone would ask you what was important to you, while decisions about your lives were being made on your behalf, without them ever knowing or taking the time to discover what ignited the passion within you. Your thoughts matter, make your voice heard.

Acknowledgements

Many moons ago my mom and dad planted within me the seeds of tenacity, strength, hard work, and dedication. I will be eternally grateful for the solid foundation you both diligently provided for me. Throughout the years you have nurtured me with your support and have been an example that a person can grow and evolve no matter the stage of life you're in. You both have contributed to my growth in immeasurable capacity. Without the examples of tenacity, strength, hard work, and dedication I saw in you both I would not be the woman I am today for my own children.

To my husband Joseph, you lift me up when I am at my lowest and celebrate me through the highs of life. When I've set my mind to the biggest task possible, and find myself questioning my ability, you constantly remind me that I can do anything. Thank you for your constant support and always believing in me. Loving and being loved by you is the greatest treasure in my life.

To my children Leah and Alvino, your lives led me to my purpose. You gave meaning and love to my passion for advocacy. You inspire me daily to be and do better. Aside from getting to love your dad there is no greater gift I've been given than to have the honor of being able to call myself your mom. You both are perfect exactly the way God created you.

To my close, extended, and distant family, thank you for the moments of encouragement throughout the years. Those moments have made my journey bearable and have reenergized me when I felt I could go no further. You are never far from my thoughts.

To Jennifer McCown Caruso, you are my introduction to the world of Person-Centered Thinking (PCT). Your light brightened my path when I needed it most. Jeff Garrison-Tate thank you for pouring your time, passion, and energy into mentoring me on my journey to becoming a PCT trainer. I've enjoyed every moment of the adventure and look forward to many more.

Dr. Michael Mary, you're the teacher I wished I had in high school. You never saw my ambition, drive, or confidence and assumed I had it under control on my own. From day one you listened to me ramble on about PCP and never tuned me out. You guided me, sharpened my thoughts, and gave me the guidance I sought. You listened to what drove my passion and challenged me to be better because of it.

To my coworkers past and current, (Denise, Theresa, Virginia, Liz, Renee, Martha, Cassandra, & Caprice) you are a blessing in my life. We've laughed, cried, prayed, and gotten each other through good and tough times while I was on this journey. Thank you for your unwavering friendship, encouragement, and for being available when I needed you most.

To my classmates, your lived experiences as classrooms teachers enhanced my learning. It gave me the information I sought to guide my critical thinking process while figuring out the needed strategies to apply person-centered thinking in the classroom. May your journey onward be filled with blessings that pour over in abundance to all the lives you will surely pour into.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction	8
Classroom Environment	8
Classroom Power Structure	9
Student-Centered Approach	10
Teacher Student Relationships	10
Chapter 2: Literature Review Introduction	13
Origins of Person-Centered Approach	13
Person-Centered Practices defined by The Learning Community	14
Applications of person-centered approaches	15
Self-Efficacy	19
Culturally Responsive Pedagogy	19
Review of Instruments	20
Research Gap	22
Chapter 3: Research Methodology	24
Introduction	24
Procedure	24
Data Analysis	25
Adaption of Person-Centered Thinking Training Curriculum	27
Participants	28
Chapter 4: Findings	29
Quantitative Data	29
Qualitative Data	33

Mixed Methods Analysis	37
Chapter 5: Conclusion	
Limitations	43
Potential for Future Research	44
Discussion	45
References	47
Appendix A	60
Appendix B	
Appendix C	66
IRB Determination Letter	68
Vita	69

Chapter 1

Introduction

This Embedded Mixed Methods research will examine supporting a more equitable learning environment: implications of person-centered practices on teacher self-efficacy. For this study, cultural responsiveness will be examined through the lens of teacher perception of selfefficacy pre-and post-receiving person-centered thinking training. The implications of treatment will be examined and related to the key classroom components discussed in the introduction. While person-centered practices are not a new concept, the research will describe applying person-centered practices using a new model to the field of education. The curriculum used in this study, adapted for the environment of an education setting, has the potential to create a universal model applicable anywhere where an equitable learning environment is desired. The person-centered approach discussed in this research is both different and similar to the teachercentered and student-centered classroom models currently used in schools today. As with most new ideas and concepts, there will certainly be more questions than answers. The hope is that educators will find themselves seeking to further understand through the replication of this study and the expansion of their knowledge of person-centered practices.

Classroom Environment

In a classroom environment where equity pedagogy is fostered Banks & Banks (1995) say that "students can acquire, interrogate, and produce knowledge and envision new possibilities for the use of that knowledge" (p.153). There is not a one-size-fits-all approach of how an environment should look and feel that will work for every classroom; however, there are certain classroom functions that are essential to achieving progress in the environment based on standard approaches of what it means to create, establish, and maintain a healthy culturally

responsive learning environment (teaching quality, classroom organization, teacher-student relationship).

According to Mascolo (2009) Learning occurs within socio-cultural activities, meaning that it is influenced by the social and cultural context in which it takes place (p. 9). The concept of participation goes beyond simply being active in learning; it emphasizes that learners are an integral part of the social and cultural processes surrounding them. Regardless of the teaching method used, learners acquire knowledge and skills by engaging in activities that are culturally embedded. By participating in these activities, learners create the conditions for their own learning.

Classroom Power Structure

For the duration of this paper, students will be referred to as "young learners" to support viewing them as such rather than as people that need to be controlled to meet outlined objectives, similar to the Lekshmi (2021) does in his study discussing culturally responsive pedagogy.

The classroom dynamic, when presented in black and white terms, seems simple. The teacher is the leader and the students, by default, are the followers. For decades this is what has been done and it has worked, or seemed to work, because the system continues to support this model. However, when the system encounters a new condition, for example a young learner advocating for themselves, how the teacher responds can positively or negatively impact the sense of trust between the teacher and young learner. A moment like this has the potential to support growth or cause a setback that produces a feeling of defeat for both young learner and teacher.

Establishing an equitable balance of *power with* (The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices, 2023), rather than *power over* (The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices, 2023), could mean the difference between supporting positive young learner growth or

promoting young learner setback. Shifting teacher power to a PCP *power with* perspective when identifying a young learner's motivation in any student-teacher engagement will encourage an equitable classroom balance. Supporting growth means looking for potential rather than seeking a punishment justified reaction. By only looking at young learners as disciplinary problems when they test the boundaries, is the educator's response one that values the young learner through their curiosity or is the response one that devalues the young learner's desire to experience the world around them a little differently?

Student-Centered Approach

According to Mascolo (2009) "Advocates of student-centered pedagogy generally proceed from the constructivist position that maintains that learners construct their understandings through their actions and experiences on the world" (p.1). The student-centered approach, as it is typically conceived, is a form of stereotyping which is informed by arbitrary demographic data such as race, ethnicity, socio-economic status, at-risk status, etc. coupled with the teacher's presumptions of the young learner's abilities; for example, assuming that a young learner is a struggling reader based on data alone. By not engaging in a conversation with the young learner about their process when tasked with reading, and not guiding them through the *discovery process* of self-awareness, the teacher misses an opportunity to empower self-advocacy. What is currently considered student-centered may be producing young learners that remain dependent on authority figures as opposed to empowering the young learner to gain independence and become the drivers of their own academic journey.

Teacher-Student Relationships

According to Petrone et. al (2020) "the actual voices and perspectives of young people are oddly absent from the process of preparing teachers to teach them" (p. 244). The teacher-

student relationship is key to the success of teachers supporting a young learner's learning outcomes. Strong relationships foster environments of trust, support, and cultural responsiveness. When people have a genuine connection with others, they are more likely to engage and feel safe seeking guidance. According to Wang et. al (2020) "teacher–student interactions are proximal processes that structure opportunities to learn and influence students' willingness and ability to engage in those opportunities" (p. 1987). It is through the process of nourishing a strong relationship that teachers may have an opportunity to gain insights into their young learner's inner motivators; motivators that will create opportunistic possibilities to engage learning.

The goal of a teacher should always be to support young learners to thrive within their learning environment, so that when they leave, they are empowered to conquer any challenge they encounter. Passing a young learner along should never be the goal of the institution. According to Morgan (2021):

"...adolescents desire to feel respected and supported. Opportunities to provide them with this respect occur when they participate in undesirable behavior. However, when educators ignore pupils' needs as they punish them, students feel a sense of disconnection with their school. A supportive system is aligned with young people's needs and strengths" (p. 198).

Relationships that produce positive engaging transactions make the potential of the goal more attainable. But how does a teacher begin to build this type of relationship with their young learner? It begins with the approach of inviting the young learner to a conversation about their education. By doing this the teacher is acknowledging them as a contributing member to the decision-making process. This act by the teacher displays their recognition of the importance of

the person (young learner) regardless of their grade, age, background, values, beliefs, socioeconomic status, limitations society places on the person, etc. Without taking this first step in building a relationship with a young learner, opportunities to establish a thriving pathway to success are left to chance rather than intentionally created. For the purpose of this study the researcher will conduct an examination on whether Person-Centered Practices has any implications on creating an equitable learning environment.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Introduction

According to Cornelius-White (2007) "person-centered education is a counselingoriginated, educational psychology model, overripe for meta-analysis, that posits that positive teacher-student relationships are associated with optimal, holistic learning" (p. 113).

Origins of Person-Centered Approach

To best understand the simplistic yet complex concept of person-centered approaches it is important to understand where the concept began. The concept was originally developed by Carl Rogers through his development of client-centered theory. According to Holosko, Skinner, and Robinson (2008) "client-centered theory is an ever-evolving approach to human development conceptualized by Carl Rogers in the 1940s, eventually known as 'person-centered' theory (PCT) in the 1970s" (p. 297). According to Rogers (1979), "the individual has within him or herself vast resources for self-understanding, for altering the selfconcept basic attitudes, and his or her self-directed behaviour - and that these resources can be tapped if only a definable climate of facilitative psychological attitudes can be provided" (p.1). In *Freedom to Learn*, Rogers (1969) defines the:

...elements which are involved in such significant or experiential learning. *It has a quality of personal involvement*-the whole person in both his feeling and cognitive aspects being *in* the learning event. *It is self-initiated*. Even when the impetus or stimulus comes from the outside, the sense of discovery, of reaching out, of grasping and comprehending, comes from within. *It is pervasive*. It makes a difference in the behavior, the attitudes, perhaps even the personality of the learner. *It is evaluated by the learner*. He

knows whether it is meeting his need, whether it leads toward what he *wants* to know, whether it illuminates the dark area of ignorance he is experiencing. The locus of evaluation, we might say, resides definitely in the learner. *Its essence is meaning*. When such learning takes place, the element of meaning to the learner is built into the whole experience (p. 5).

According to Swan et. al (2020) Rogers "identified three 'core conditions' that support facilitative practice in both counseling and education: empathy, genuineness, and unconditional positive regard. He theorized that these three conditions: empathy, genuineness, and unconditional positive regard were necessary for the creation of relationships that support and facilitate both therapeutic conversations and educational interactions" (p. 4).

Person-centered practices defined by The Learning Community

The Learning Community for Person Centered Practices (TLCPCP) defines itself as "an international community of volunteers that organized themselves to promote the use of personcentered practices globally. We strive to be diverse, inclusive, and accessible so that people with lived experiences of disability, family members, advocates, professionals, and all others can participate" (The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices, 2023). Person-Centered Thinking (PCT) is a set of instructional strategies used by The Learning Community for Person Centered Practices, originally designed for persons supporting people with intellectual and developmental disabilities (IDD). PCT is a curriculum resource available as part of the person-centered approaches umbrella used by The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices. When the acronym PCP is referenced throughout this paper it will be referring to person-centered practices as defined by The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices unless otherwise noted. PCP support the person's development in the areas of communication, cultural responsiveness, self-awareness, and positive reputations to create a person-first culture and approach to supporting others.

General person-centered approaches are being used in educational contexts; in addition, they are widely used in other areas. Carl Rogers began the foundational work of applying personcentered approaches in education settings that build off his client-based therapy approach. Frieberg & Lamb applied Carl Rogers work in their classroom management research (Swan et. al, 2020, Freiberg et. al, 2009).

The skills and strategies learned through PCP and PCT training as outlined by the TLCPCP are currently being used on a national level to support Medicaid and Medicare funded programs. Per the Texas Administrative Code "A person-centered service planning process is provided in accordance with 42 CFR §441.540" to maintain compliance with federal regulations when providing Medicaid and Medicare funded programs. PCP and PCT training focus on the whole person [young learner] regardless of age, race, gender, disability, etc. and teaches the skills teachers need to provide individual or group-based support in any environment. PCP and PCT training bring to the forefront the person being supported and challenges teachers to truly listen to their young leaners before actions are taken. According to the National Center on Advancing Person-Centered Practices and Systems "Person-centered practices ensure that the people we serve get to live the life they desire. Using person-centered practices also can improve job satisfaction for the professionals who use them" (2019, Person-Centered Thinking, Planning, and Practice: A National Environmental Scan of Foundational Resources and Approaches). PCP and PCT skills teach people to embrace the cultures and diversity of others through the support provided, creating culturally responsive learning environments and relationships. The Learning

Community for Person Centered Practices has many PCP approaches. The approach adapted for the purpose of this research is the Person-Centered Thinking (PCT) Curriculum.

In academic settings, plans for young learners are established "based on the belief that students with disabilities can make progress on challenging goals aligned to the general education curriculum at the enrolled grade level with specially designed services and supports" (Texas Education Agency, 2023, Standards-Based Individualized Education Program Guidance) through the IEP development process For the plan to be truly *person-centered* it must be developed with input and guidance from the person for which it is being developed. According to The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices (2023, Person Centered Thinking) "If people who use services are to have positive control over their lives, if they are to have self-directed lives within their own communities, then those who are around the person — especially those who do the day-to-day work — need to have person centered thinking skills".

Person-centered practices and skills can be applied to all people receiving support or services no matter the age or preconceived abilities placed on a person. The work of The Learning community and promoting person-centered approaches "sharing learning on methods of person-centered thinking, planning, and support across the lifespan for all people" (The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices, 2023, Our Work). A person of any age or ability has the right and ability to be included in conversations that directly impact their journey in life (National Center on Advancing Person-Centered Practices and Systems, 2023).

Applications of Person-Centered Approaches

According to Freiberg et al "the climate is warm and productive in a person-centered classroom, where students feel safe to express their ideas/opinions and make mistakes" (p. 104).

According to Fettig et. al (2021) As the number of young children entering EC/ECSE (early childhood/early childhood special education) increases each year, it is critical to consider effective and efficient ways to improve classroom quality and promote positive child outcomes. A person-centered approach to understanding classroom quality provides multiple dimensions to consider for quality improvement (p. 88).

The following research will focus on approaches to creating person-centered classroom models different from the PCP model as described by The Learning Community for Person-Centered Practices. All person-centered research reviewed provided different approaches to applying a person-centered approach. Research reviewed where person-centered/student-centered approaches have been applied with elementary, middle, and high school level young learners are noted within this literature review. Research notes that when conscious student-centered practices were applied, the findings showed that the environment had positive implications for all involved (Murdock et. al 2003, Freiberg et. al, 2009, Fettig et. al, 2021, Childre et. al, 2005, Pond et. al, 2017, Thompson et.al, 2021).

While reviewing research that included person-centered approaches applied in educational settings, the most applied practice to the approach was to cluster research subjects to like groupings based on tendencies and commonalities. For example, Pond & Chini (2017) described grouping based on person tendencies and commonalities, while Wormington et.al (2016), Brocato (2009), Thompson et. al, (2021), and Doyle, (2009), took a person-centered approach by analyzing data and then grouping based on data. For example, person-centered clustering- applied and variable centered approaches were used by Murdock et. al, (2003), while researching differences in motivational and achievement patterns in 7th and 8th grade young learners.

Clustering based on person similarities with no clearly outlined path to understand young learner choices or source of motivation was the person-centered approach applied during Murdock study. According to Patall et. al, (2014) "A sense of competence may also foster interest and motivation, particularly when students are given the opportunity to make choices about their learning activities" (p. 112) an important factor to consider when applying a person-centered approach in a classroom setting.

Thompson et. al, (2021) used the GIMME (group iterative multiple model estimation) approach to collect their data, while also applying a variable-centered method. The GIMME was used "to model person level responses to negative teacher feedback regarding students' next day motivational ratings" (p. 775). This study looked at how teachers' negative feedback impacted young learner motivation on the date of the occurrence as well as the day after the occurrence.

To better understand learning styles Pond & Chini (2017) gathered individual data and grouped subjects according to their responses. They took this approach to better understand learning styles of each category of subjects. Pond & Chini (2017) concluded by stating the

person-centered profile approach presented here helps to characterize students and gives a basis to investigate what students themselves bring to the classroom. Identifying learning profiles and their adoptions among different types of students gives insight into students' classroom motivations and study behaviors and allow us, as educators, to better understand and respond to their needs (p. 010119-15).

According to Freiberg et. al, 2009 "consistency management (CM) focuses on classroom and instructional organization and teacher planning" (p.104) and "Cooperative discipline (CD) expands the leadership roles and responsibilities of instructional management from solely the teacher's to shared responsibility between students and teacher" (p.104). Freiberg et. al, (2009)

used the Consistency Management and Cooperative Discipline program (CMCD) in their personcentered classroom management model that created a shared responsibility between the teacher and young learners.

Self-Efficacy

Understanding the importance of self-efficacy and how it relates to teaching and supporting young learners is pivotal in growth in this area. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine *How People Learn II: Learners, Contexts, and Cultures (2018)* defines self-efficacy as:

Learning develops from multiple sources, including perceptions of one's past performance, vicarious experiences, performance feedback, affective/physiological states, and social influences. Research on how to improve self-efficacy for learning has shown the benefits of several strategies for strengthening students' sense of their competence for learning, including setting appropriate goals and breaking down difficult goals into subgoals (Bandura et. al, 1981) and providing students with information about their

progress, which allows them to attribute success to their own effort (Schunk et. al, 1986). According to Powell-Moman et. al, (2011) "teachers with lower levels of efficacy will be less motivated to put forth effort during instruction and will lower levels of persistence" (p.48). It is through the building of our own consciousness that we grow in our abilities to support growth within others.

Culturally Responsive Pedagogy

Having a sense of what culturally responsive pedagogy is and the self-awareness to acknowledge the facets of how people have come to be who they are is the initial process to activate cultural responsiveness. Understanding the expectation of this approach and having a

tool to assist educators through the process will directly impact the effectiveness or ineffectiveness of the attempted process. Culturally responsive pedagogy according to Lekshmi (2021) is as stated:

Culturally responsive pedagogy can be conceptualized in three main dimensions: institutional, personal, and instructional. The institutional dimension focuses on the role of cultural factors on the academic policies, organization, and procedures with or without the involvement of the community. The personal dimension is oriented towards the involvement of teachers in the curriculum transaction in such a way to get adapted to the cross-cultural milieu and become culturally responsive. The instructional dimension is more challenging which focuses on the pedagogic tendencies and practices that can be incorporated in a culturally responsive classroom. When a teacher attempts to handle classes in multi-cultural classrooms, he/she should be well aware of the nature of their own culture, the nature of other ones' (parents, colleagues) culture, and the nature of students' culture. The teacher should be able to overcome the inaccurate views about their own culture and to give up all kinds of cultural biases (p. 5501).

Review of instruments

To measure the implication of PCT training effects on teacher self-efficacy as it relates to cultural responsiveness, the instruments used to measure culturally responsive teacher self-efficacy were Culturally Responsive Teaching Self-Efficacy Scale (CRTSE) and Culturally Responsive Teaching Outcome Expectancy Scale (CRTOE) (Siwatu, 2007, Chu & Garcia, 2014, Hachfeld et. al, 2015, Larson & Bradshaw, 2017).

According to Thomas et. al, (2020) "The Culturally Responsive Teaching Self-Efficacy Scale is a 40-item measure designed to assess preservice teachers' perceptions toward their

ability to implement culturally responsive teaching practices" (p.126). CRTSE utilized a Likert type scale of 0 (no confidence) - 100 (complete confidence). Thomas al et (2020) states that "quantitative methods were used to determine differences from the beginning and end of the semester between the group of students involved in the traditional teacher preparation program and the group participating in the community engaged teacher preparation program" (p.126).

The second instrument used was The Culturally Responsive Teaching Outcome Expectancy Scale according to Thomas al et (2020) it "is a 26-item scale designed to assess preservice teachers' beliefs that engaging in culturally responsive teaching practices will result in positive outcomes for student learners" (p. 127). CRTOE utilized a Likert type scale of 0 (entirely uncertain) to 100 (completely certain). After an in-depth review of literature about how to measure self-efficacy, the research identified that there were downfalls to utilizing the traditional Likert scale and opted to use the 0 (entirely uncertain) to 100 (completely certain) (Siwatu, 2007) for both instruments used in this study.

While the instruments were originally created for preservice teachers Siwatu (2007) states that "Despite the changing demographics of today's school children, little research has been done to examine preservice and inservice teachers' culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy and outcome expectancy beliefs. The development of the CRTSE and CRTOE would allow for these needed inquiries" (p.1089). Thomas al et (2020) states "it is possible to design a teacher preparation program that can bolster candidates' beliefs in their ability to bridge the disconnect between their own cultures and those of their students, which may lead to closing the achievement gap" (p. 130). According to Siwatu (2007) his study using the Culturally Responsive Teacher Self-Efficacy instrument reported the following:

The findings of this study were two-pronged: the quantitative phase that revealed the nature of preservice teachers' CRTSE beliefs and the qualitative phase that identified the types of culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy forming experiences that preservice teachers encountered during their teacher education program and the perceived influence that these experiences had on the development of their CRTSE beliefs. These findings have implications for the preparation of teachers who are both competent and confident in their abilities to execute the practice of culturally responsive teaching (p. 366).

Research gap

There are limited articles about PCP being used in classroom settings to support the general education environment. However, person-centered approaches can be found in the areas of counseling and trauma informed care for all age groups. Fettig et.al, (2021) state that "a person-centered approach to understanding classroom quality provides multiple dimensions to consider for quality improvement" ...and "the early learning workforce has a documented need for professional development suited to different levels of education and program structure" (P. 75). Therefore, it is imperative that professional development approaches are considered to match the needs of individual teachers. In the effort to identify professional development to create a student-centered and culturally responsive learning environment, the researcher sought approval to explore these areas to fill a gap in this area of education research. Migliarini et. al, (2021) applied a PCP, as defined by TLCPCP, approach to redesigning the IEP process to support inclusivity of all students and reported the following:

the introduction of PCP and ecological assessments has helped reframe and relieve some of the challenges that Italian teachers face when including migrant students with disabilities in mainstream settings. We argued that existing inclusive practices in

mainstream schools can increase the exclusion of migrant students and their families" (p. 417).

While there is available research utilizing forms of person-centered practices in the classroom (Fettig et. al, (2021), Migliarini et. al, (2021), Pond & Chini, 2017) there is still much research that is needed. According to Fettig et. al, (2021) "Future research with a larger sample size is necessary to fully account for the range of teacher characteristics that contribute to a person-centered approach" (p. 87), additionally "a person-centered approach to understanding classroom quality is a promising direction for future research" (p. 88). By identifying and establishing a practical curriculum to implement person-centered skills such as the one developed by the Institute for person-centered approach to improve the learning environment by attempting to support the improvement of teacher self-efficacy.

Chapter 3

Method

Introduction

This research aims to identify an adaptable approach to supporting young learners that will create an equitable, culturally responsive learning environment. By exploring a PCP strategy, this research seeks to uncover a practical approach to a universal person-centered application that can effectively support young learners while promoting an inclusive and culturally responsive learning environment.

Procedure

To examine the Implications of Person-Centered Practices on Teacher Self-Efficacy: to Support a More Equitable Learning Environment a mixed method approach was taken to conduct this research. In this mixed methods study participants took pre- and post-surveys using the following instruments: 1.) Culturally Responsive Teaching Self-Efficacy Scale (CRTSE) (Siwatu, 2007, Chu, Garcia, 2014, Hachfeld, Hahn, Schroeder, Anders, & Kunter, 2015, Larson & Bradshaw, 2017) (see Appendix A). The second instrument used was the 2.) Culturally Responsive Teaching Outcome Expectations Scale (CRTOE) (Siwatu, 2007, Chu, Garcia, 2014, Hachfeld, Hahn, Schroeder, Anders, & Kunter, 2015, Larson & Bradshaw, 2017) (see Appendix B).

After completing CRTSE and CRTOE pre-surveys, participants received training in Person-Centered Practices (PCP) and then completed the post-surveys and participated in two rounds of interviews using pre-scripted open-ended interview questions. The prescription interview items can be found in Appendix C.

According to Creswell and Clark (2007) "mixed method research provides strengths that offset the weaknesses of both quantitative and qualitative research" (p. 9). For this study a mixed methods design allowed for the analysis of quantitative changes between the pre- and postsurvey data. The mixed method design also allowed for any qualitative findings not evident within the survey data to be revealed during the qualitative interview data collection. Furthermore, to investigate the PCT training treatment on teacher self-efficacy and cultural responsiveness a mixed methods embedded design was used to examine the findings of the experiment (Creswell & Clark, 2007).

Survey data was collected through Qualtrics. Post interviews were conducted via telephone and virtual conferencing. Participants had the option of completing the questions before the interview. If a participant opted to answer interview questions prior to the interview researcher asked confirming questions during the interview process regarding pre-filled responses and requested that the participant elaborate when further clarification was needed. There were seven base questions participants were asked with follow up questions based on responses.

Data Analysis

A mixed methods explanatory design approach as described by Creswell & Plano Clark, (2007), was chosen for this study. Qualitative data was collected two times after participants received PCT training and prioritized to identify any implications of PCT identified by the participants to gain an understanding of the potentials areas where self-efficacy was developed due to the PCT training, to gain a perspective on participant choice to use or not use PCT when performing work related responsibilities, and to identify whether PCT training had any implications on creating a culturally responsive learning environment. Quantitative data was also

collected pre- and post PCT training to measure self-efficacy of cultural responsiveness as well as culturally responsive outcome expectancy. Analysis of the data in this mixed methods approach provides the necessary data to provide a comprehensive review of PCT implications on creating equitable learning environments.

To further analyze the collected qualitative data the researcher began utilizing the Initial Coding protocol according to Saldana (2009). The researcher broke "down the qualitative data into discrete parts, closely examining them, and comparing them for similarities and differences" (Saldana, 2009, p. 81). The researcher completed this process to reflect the grouping of participants and the individual data for each participant. This was done to reflect any differences in responses for each participant to see if any interpretations could be made based on demographic information provided. The Initial Coding protocol was followed by a second cycle of Focused Coding according to Saldana (2009) to identify "the most frequent or significant Initial Codes to develop "the most salient categories" in the data corpus and "requires decisions about which initial codes make the most analytic sense" (p.155). When Focused Coding cycle was completed the researcher then reviewed and categorized the coded data into three main themes that aligned with the main areas of the literature review: self-efficacy, person-centered practices, and cultural responsiveness.

The researcher separated survey questions into two categories: action and thought perception items. Action items were anything associated with completing a task and perception items were focused more on the teacher's thought process in each scenario. This was done to identify any trends or correlations between thought perceptions after receiving the personcentered thinking training.

To compare pre and post data collected between participant A and B, the researcher categorized pre and post responses by identifying questions where both participants had an increase in response points on the same questions between the following ranges: small range 1 - 19 and large range of 20 or more.

Adaption of Person-Centered Thinking Training Curriculum

The training participants received was the PCT curriculum adapted from the current twoday person-centered thinking curriculum into a 90-minute training session for teachers. Adaption of the curriculum was created to accommodate the time schedules of teachers and to provide relevant education setting references within the training. The adapted curriculum of the training focused on maintaining the PCT training curriculum's integrity by delivering the core concept values, skills, and curriculum activities of the training:

- *balance between* important *to* and important *for*
- positive control: *power with vs. power over*
- content/process experts
- guess-ask-write, branching conversations
- communication log
- *relationship map*
- one page description

I, the researcher, am certified by the Learning Community as a Person-Centered Thinking trainer and can make necessary adjustments to the curriculum delivery to ensure participants leave the training session with a solid understanding of the curriculum's core concept, values, and skills in PCT.

Participants

Participants in this study were both in-service teachers, Participant A teaches high school young learners and Participant B is a former classroom teacher now an instructional specialist supporting classroom teachers. Both work in urban area public schools. Both teachers have seven years of experience teaching. Participant A has experience teaching grades 4-12 and Participant B has experience teaching grades Pre-K - 5. Both participants were female and in their 30's. One was of Mexican/Native American background and the other was of Caucasian/Non-Hispanic background.

Chapter 4

Findings

Quantitative Findings

Analysis of the means of both participants pre and post results of instruments was reviewed to identify any change in overall response. When reviewing the following results, it important to note that Participant A had received prior training in culturally responsive classroom environments from Teach for America, but Participant B has indicated that she had never received any prior training in cultural responsiveness. The means of both participants showed an increase in both their self-efficacy and in their outcome expectancy responses. Table 1 data shows that Participant A had an average increase in self-efficacy (CRSTE) of 7.71 and an average increase in outcome expectancy (CROTE) of 13.34 points per survey question in each of the instruments. Participant B had an average increase in self-efficacy (CRSTE) of 26.22 and an average increase in outcome expectancy (CROTE) of 27.47 points per survey question in each of the instruments. It was expected that there would be no statistical significance due to the small sample size of two participants. Given the number of participants, an advanced statistical analysis was not possible for this study.

Table 1

CRSTE & CROTE Summation of pre/post means				
	CRSTE		CR	OTE
	Pre-	Post	Pre-	Post-
Participant A	79.51	87.22	85.62	98.96
Participant B	64.34	90.56	69.15	96.62
N D. 1. 1		TD 1	100 1	

Note: Both the CRSTE and CROTE are scored on 100-point scales

In lieu of statistical analysis, a rudimentary item comparison of both participants' preand post- training survey responses was evaluated. This evaluation involved the grouping of change in respondents' scores on items between the pre- and post-surveys. These changes were then grouped based on the ranges of pre- and post- item differences. Changes between one and 19 were classified as small pre/post difference and changes of more than 20 points were classified as large pre/post differences. The two ranges were chosen because of the point scale of the instruments.

There was a total of 33 action questions identified in the CRTSE instrument and eight identified action questions. Participants combined showed an increase in three action questions in the small range and one in the large range. For the thought perception questions participants combined showed an increase in five thought perception questions in the small range and three in the large range. Participant A showed an increase in 16 action questions in the small range and six in the large range. For the thought perception questions Participant A showed an increase in five thought perception questions in the small range and one in the large range. Participant B showed an increase in three action questions in the small range and 18 in the large range. For the thought perception questions Participant B showed an increase in one thought perception questions in the small range and five in the large range.

Table 2

CRISE summation of pre/post gains in participant rating			
	Small Range	Large Range	
Participants Combined Action	3	1	
Participants Combined Thought Perception	5	3	
Participant A Action	16	6	
Participant A Thought Perception	5	1	
Participant B Action	3	18	
Participant B Thought Perception	1	5	

CRTSE Summation of pre/post gains in participant rating

Total number of Action Questions 33 of 41

Total number of Thought Perception Questions 8 of 41

^a Gain < 20 points (on 100 point scale)

^b Gain > 20 points (on 100 point scale)

All instrument questions in the CRTOE were identified as thought perception questions. Participants combined showed an increase in six thought perception questions in the small range and five in the large range. Participant A showed an increase in nine thought perception questions in the small range and seven in the large range. Participant B showed an increase in two thought perception questions in the small range and sixteen in the large range.

Table 3

CKTOE Summation of pre/post gains	s in participant rating		
	Small Range ^a	Large Range ^b	
Participants Combined Action	-	-	
Participants Combined Thinking	6	5	
Participant A Action	-	-	
Participant A Thinking	9	7	
Participant B Action	-	-	
Participant B Thinking	2	16	

CRTOF Summation of pre/post gains in participant rating

Total number of Action Questions 0 of 26

Total number of Thought Perception Questions 26 of 26

^a Gain < 20 points (on 100 point scale)

^b Gain > 20 points (on 100 point scale)

In the CRTSE instrument, on twelve instrument questions both participants had an increase in response point in the small range, and on three instrument questions both participants had an increase in response points in the large range. Participant A showed an increase in response points in the CRTSE instrument, 22 questions had an increase in the small range and six questions had an increase in response points in the large range. Participant A showed an increase in their self-efficacy with 28 of the 41 instrument questions after receiving the PCT training. Participant B showed an increase in response points in the following ranges, four questions in the small range and twenty-three questions had an increase in response points in the large range

Participant B showed an increase in their self-efficacy with 27 of the 41 instrument questions

after receiving the PCT training.

CRSTE Summation of pre/post gains in participant rating			
	Small Range ^a	Large Range ^b	
Participants Combined	12	3	
Participant A	22	6	
Participant B	4	23	

Table 4

^a Gain < 20 points (on 100 point scale)

^b Gain > 20 points (on 100 point scale)

In the CRTOE instrument there were six instrument questions. Both participants had an increase in response points in the following ranges: six instrument questions in the small range and five instrument questions in the large range. Participant A responses for CRTOE instrument showed an increase in response point in nine instrument questions in the small range and seven instrument questions had an increase in response points in the large range. Participant A showed an increase in their outcome expectancy with 16 of the 26 instrument questions after receiving the PCT training. Participant B responses showed an increase in response points in the small range points in the large range in the small range and sixteen questions had an increase in response points in the large range. Participant B responses showed an increase in response points in the small range and sixteen questions had an increase in response points in the large range. Participant B showed an increase in their outcome expectancy with 18 of the 26 instrument questions after receiving the PCT training. Participant B showed an increase in their outcome expectancy with 18 of the 26 instrument questions after receiving the PCT training.

	Small Range ^a	Large Range ^b
Participants Combined	6	5
Participant A	9	7
Participant B	2	16

Table 5CRSTE Summation of pre/post gains in participant rating

^a Gain < 20 points (on 100 point scale)

^bGain > 20 points (on 100 point scale)

Qualitative Findings

The emergent themes that best fit the data were ideas associated with person-centered practices discussed in the introduction and in the literature review: Person-centered practices, self-efficacy, and cultural responsiveness.

Initial Coded Data

The first cycle yielded 14 codes that were later Focused Coded. The following 14 codes were identified during the first cycle: perspective change, action to ask questions rather than assume, used PCP core concept/skill terminology, relationships, communication, support, implementation of PCP core concept/skill, understanding, sharing PCP core concept/skill with others, suggestion to adapt to different grade levels, equity, power, empathy, and culture.

Focused Coded Data

The initial coded codes were paired with the ideas discussed in the introduction and literature review according to the researcher's interpretation of data collected. Presented are the codes paired with the appropriate theme: person-centered practices: perspective change, action to ask questions rather than assume, used PCP core concept/skill terminology, relationships, communication, support, and implementation of PCP core concept/skill, self-efficacy: understanding, sharing PCP core concept/skill with others, suggestion to adapt to different grade levels, and cultural responsiveness: equity, power, empathy, and culture.

Table 6

Initial Codes	Focused Themes
1. Perspective Change	
2. Action to ask questions rather than assume	
3. Used PCP core concept/skill terminology	
4. Relationships	A. Person-Centered Practices
5. Communication	
6. Support	
7. Implementation of PCP core concept/skill	
8. Understanding	
9. Sharing PCP core concept/skill with others	B. Self-Efficacy
10. Suggestion to adapt to different grade levels	
11. Equity	
12. Power	C. Caltaral Damasian
13. Empathy	C. Cultural Responsiveness
14. Culture	

Themes

PCT core concepts and skills were discussed with participants during the interview process as it related to their experiences in the classroom, interactions with others, or reflection of past interactions. The following themes could best be defined as the underlying principles of PCP as discussed in the literature review: Person-Centered Practices, self-efficacy, and cultural responsiveness. Many examples could have been placed in multiple themes because of the information provided within the example by the participant. However, the decision to place them within the identified theme was based on the action taken by the participant not the effects of the action within the example. Participants provided responses mostly in an example format to explain how they chose to implement aspects of the PCT training. The following are direct quotes from participants as they relate to each theme: person-centered practices, self-efficacy, and cultural responsiveness.

Person-Centered Practices (PCP)

Examples of participant responses that were associated with the theme of PCP were: Participant B "This has led me to realize to question more and all students to share rather than assume. Instead of me making assumptions based off of what background knowledge I think they would have, it would be more of providing those opportunities for them to share and them to make those connections, or me having to do extra research or extend things further and me having to learn whether it's their culture or practice or whatever it is, so that way, I can help support them in making the connections for them to understand like a discipline".

Participant B described her self-awareness of bias she had prior to receiving PCT training related to assumptions about a person without first-hand knowledge of the person. She described the value in providing opportunities to allow young learners to share information about themselves first-hand to identify the best approaches to supporting young learners.

Participant A "it made me realize how power can be leveraged so that both student and teacher have equity in the classroom as to how decisions are made".

Participant A described a moment of self-reflection detailing contributions from all people involved in the situation are necessary to creating equity in the classroom.

Self-Efficacy

An example of a participant response that was associated with the theme of self-efficacy: ...it goes back to what PCP does for people. I think that it gives you a better understanding of how to build relationships, how to react and to listen, and to be open to other perspectives other than your own" and "I think that some of these practices would be something that I could definitely share with a teacher, who has a bilingual classroom

or who doesn't, or maybe they are dual language or they're a newcomer, I think it would be based on when those situations are approached and happening and then I'm like, Oh, let me dig into my PCP toolbox in my head -Participant B.

Cultural Responsiveness

Example of a participant response that was associated with the theme of cultural responsiveness:

I feel it lends itself to understand that we all have different values. Sometimes our values can be the same. Regardless if they're the same or they're different, we are going to appreciate each other's priorities. If they don't tend to be in line at that moment, we'll find a way to work it out. I think culturally, when you have person-centered thinking, it leads to an environment of dignity and compassion. I think that's the best way to put it. It's different than kindness. I feel kindness is forced. I'm doing this so the parent doesn't get mad at me or I'm doing this because my teacher's going to get mad at me. When you have person-centered thinking, I feel it's more compassion. It impacts the culture that way because now you all understand when we're all well and healthy, we're going to all feel that way. When someone is not and perhaps they're uncomfortable, then we're all gonna feel uncomfortable for that student. I feel person-centered thinking--- that's not necessarily

Participant A described her reflection on the use of PCT and its relation to culture. Her response reflected thoughts about respecting the values of others, whether they matched your own values or not. By respecting the values of others creates an environment that is responsive to the needs of those who are present. She also reflects on the implications for creating a healthy environment using PCT skills.

a bad thing if that means it gives us compassion for one another -Participant A.

Mixed Methods Analysis

Analysis of qualitative and quantitative findings combined showed that the intervention of person-centered thinking training had a positive impact on teacher self-efficacy and outcome expectancy. Additionally, the qualitative data demonstrated that the use of a person-centered approach supported a culturally responsive environment for both Participant A, classroom teacher and Participant B, Instructional Specialist. Both participants reported applying the person-centered thinking skills learned from the training and reported positive implications with use of intervention.

Participants reported using the skills learned from PCT training with students and classroom teachers. Qualitative data reported by participants of the interactions where PCT skills were used supported the participant outcome expectancy data collected through their quantitative data. Additionally, participants qualitative data showed the confidence of teacher self-efficacy of the skills learned through PCT in how they were able to adapt the skills to best fit their needs in and out of the classroom to support a culturally responsive learning environment.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

Of the person-centered approaches reviewed and noted in the literature review, it was not clear whether any of the current person-centered methods being used by researchers included responsive adaptable interventions that support young learners based on their lived experiences that impact daily change of behavior, thought process, values, beliefs, or interests. A personcentered or student-centered approach as they are currently used only support specific situations that may or may not be present in the next round of cohorts teachers receive. This is important to note because people change daily; therefore having an adaptable tool is key to maintaining the desired environment homeostasis. Tools and skills that are easily adaptable and applicable from one situation to the next are valuable to the overall sustainability of the desired outcome.

Classroom Environment

It was mentioned within the introduction of the research that an equitable classroom environment is essential to the learning process and the path for defining the culture of the classroom will be different for everyone. However, using an adaptable universal model to establish that classroom culture can be attempted using the skills and tools learned from PCT training. Educators can adapt the tools learned through PCT training to establish their classroom environments with the PCT tools that best fits their classroom needs. The following examples from each participant support this claim. Each participant identified a tool taken from PCT training and shared how they established their culture of building rapport with the people they support. For example, in the following responses provided by participants it can be noted that Participant A utilized a core concept of PCT *Important To* reach her young learners during

instruction to establish rapport and Participant B utilized the *Relationship Map* to build rapport with the teachers she supports. For example, here is a quote Participant A shared:

I definitely find myself saying it's important to me a lot more. I think the way that's changed is I guess the language that I would use before would be more like, 'Put that away now', 'Or you need to do this', or 'You're going to have this on your end-of-course exam. If you don't learn it now, you're not going to do well'. Even though at that time I thought I was speaking from a point of view of caring for them because I want them to do well on their test and graduate from high school. When I just flipped it as something as it's important to me that you learn how to find theme and how theme is developed through characterization. It just says a lot more. I don't know. That simple twist of words really makes a difference. I think it creates a power with.

Participant A demonstrated her ability to establish rapport through thoughtful choice of words and minimal effort outside of what she typically does to perform her duties as a teacher. She describes through her example, meaningful choice of words learned from PCT training that made a positive impact in her ability to connect with her students to support them in meeting the desired academic requirements.

Where Participant B utilized the *relationship map* to accomplish building rapport with teachers that she supports as an Instructional Specialist:

Like those support circles, even though personally, one of those pre identified categories don't fit their career world maybe their worrying about a personal work circle. But I think about their circles with work and who they have to support or who they've received support from. And I think about sometimes, you know what? I'm working with a teacher. They may be new to FAISD (pseudonym) or like I was just working with the teacher the

other day. Who is a retiree hire and technology has, like, just changed so much for her. And so, sitting there, listening to her vent, and then asking her like, you know, have you reached out to your admin about the way you're feeling? Have you talked to your team or people who similarly like teach you know what you teach? And I found that she really didn't have anybody. So that like allowed me to, you know, to try to, like, enter myself into her circle and her knowing that, like, I'm here to support. And so now, like I have regularly like scheduled meetings with her, and then I also like, you know, even if I don't have a meeting with her and I'm on campus, like, I'll just check in just to build that relationship and that report with her. PCT training is designed to support people, so taking the tools learned from this training by anyone can be applied to help anyone in any environment that impacts the classroom.

Participant B demonstrated her use of PCT tools and skills learned from the PCT training to develop both the big picture as well as the details of the desired outcomes to support a teacher. While these examples specifically revolve around building rapport, building rapport and trust is the first step to establishing a strong supportive environment.

Classroom Power Structure

It was my hope that through this research participants would find that it is possible to establish a balance between roles, supporting young learners, and holding themselves accountable to the same standards they hold for their young learners. While the following example doesn't take place specifically in a classroom, the teacher's reflection and actions are important to note as incidents like this between teachers and young learners transpire at any point during the day and have the power to impact the classroom environment positively or negatively. Participant A shared the following experience that modeled the person-centered approach *Power*

With vs. Power Over. This example takes place during a presentation at school with a young learner that isn't one of her students, followed by teacher reflection, and finally an interaction the teacher had with the young learner after the initial incident:

The other day we had National Hispanic Institute come and talk to all the 8th graders, all of the 9th graders, and the 10th graders, I think the juniors too.

I was walking up and down the aisle to make sure that students were not on their phones because at the time of presentation, and you should be listening. I wanted them to learn b how you're supposed to behave in front of a presenter. Whether you like it or not, whether it's engaging or not, this is the typical protocol. There is this one young man, I would tell him, 'Can you please put your phone away?' I'd come back around and he's playing soccer again on his phone. 'Can you please put your phone away?' Come back again and he's playing soccer on his phone. Finally, on the fourth time, I asked him to step outside. Instantly, I'm thinking, 'I want him to give me his phone' He clearly can't disconnect from it. I did tell him, 'This is my fourth time me telling you this. How do you expect me to respond?' I think even that question took him back, like, 'She's not telling me how I should think.' He almost looked at me like I was kind of being sarcastic with him. I said, 'I'm not being sarcastic with you. There's no right or wrong answer. I'm very curious on how you expect me to respond to this.' Then he said, 'I expect you to take my phone away.' I said, 'I'm thinking that too.' I said, 'Well, how long do you think I should keep your phone?' He said, 'To the end of the presentation.' I said, 'Well, technically the presentation ends in five minutes so to me, that's really nothing.' He goes, 'Okay, how about until lunch?' I said, 'Well, I know you're just going to use it during lunch because you're allowed to.' Lunch is directly after the next period. He says, 'Okay, well, if you

keep it, then can you at least charge it for me?' I gave him a look like, 'Are you serious? You're asking me to charge your phone while it's taken away.' It just blew my mind but that's his perspective, right? That's what's important to him, so I tell him no. I'm like, 'No, I'm not going to charge your phone. You're crazy.' He goes and he sits down and then when I had time to think about it, I was like, 'Here is this young man. I don't teach him. He's a new freshman. I have no relationship with him. He came from the Smith M.S. (pseudonym) and maybe at the Smith M.S., it was okay to use your phone during presentations. I don't know. We didn't give an announcement to them like, 'Okay, boys, during the presentation, everybody should be off their phones.' The more I thought about it, I was like, 'You know what? I know this is important to him. Even if it's just playing soccer. I don't know what type of day he's had. Maybe he's playing soccer because he had such a crappy morning at home.' I don't know. I didn't ask him those things. I thought about it and on the way to class, I passed the class that he's in, which was Latin. I asked the teacher, 'Can I just talk to him, please?' She said, 'Yes.' I gave him his phone. I said, 'For whatever reason, I know this is very important to you. I don't want to keep it from you because I'm sure maybe you need it. But just please, next time can you put it away when I ask you.' I felt like he appreciated that more. Yes. Thinking about the person rather than the role. My initial lens is, no, the role is you don't have your phone out during presenters. Then after he gave me his phone I thought, that's not very personcentered of me. I'm just following the rules. Yes, that would be an example of how I don't instantly think with it. My immediate reaction was just to seek control. Do what I tell you to do. Then after I had some time to reflect, I realized, wait a minute, why am I

keeping this phone? What am I going to do with it? Is this just to give him a consequence.

This example is how PCT can support a more culturally responsive approach to establishing a positive power structure within the education system between teachers and young learners. PCT takes into consideration all variables even the ones we don't even know exist to create the best environment possible. Through thoughtful reflection and respectful listening empathy is established to support positive power structures. Participant A demonstrated cultural responsiveness by recognizing something that was important to a young learner that wasn't even on her cohort roster. She was able to do this using the skills learned through PCT training. It isn't necessary to know a person's entire back story to create an equitable responsive environment. Participant A demonstrated that it is possible to builds trust through respectful listening, compassion, while implementing a person-first culture through the lens of PCT.

Limitations

This study has limitations due to the small sample size and consisting of participants who have different roles within the school system. Additionally, there may have been larger gains had they received the full two-day training versus the 90 minutes version. Data was only comparable based on similar examples provided with no comparison of a group of teachers or instructional specialists. However, it does offer a glimpse into the potential of utilizing PCT training as a tool that is both universal and adaptable to establish equitable learning environments. According to Freiberg & Lamb (2009) "the decades of person-centered research shows significant benefits to teacher and students-all persons in the classroom" (p.104). Person-Centered Thinking skills and tools have the potential to establish a positive foundation of support that can relieve some of the

stressors that are prevalent when compassion, empathy, and effective communication skills are absent in learning environments.

Potential for Future Research

There is potential for future research to expand on the use of the model presented in this study to support culturally responsive classroom environments with a larger sample size of a group of teachers and groups of instructional specialists. Other aspects of this model could include adapting this training to include all campus staff (front-facing, instructional assistants, nurse, food service, etc.) to promote cultural responsiveness beyond the classroom to support young learners campuswide. Participants shared the following about how person-centered thinking training can support interactions campuswide:

Participant B shared:

I think that overall, the concept of PCP being used as an individual in the workplace, I think allows for us to take into consideration, umm where people come from. Possibly. You know, supporting in the classroom with behavior, with connecting with parents, with connecting with staff members, I think it just really opens a lens for you to understand that, maybe if something that's said or response that you're not quite understanding, or it came off wrong to you and you're not understanding why that's happening. I think it just like gives you more insight instead of going straight to blaming.

Participant A shared:

I feel like it lends itself to understand that we all have different values. Sometimes our values can be the same. Regardless of if they're the same or they're different, we are going to appreciate each other's priorities. If they don't tend to be in line at that moment, we'll find a way to work it out. I think culturally, when you have person-centered

thinking, it leads to an environment of dignity and compassion. I think that's the best way to put it. It's different than kindness.

Discussion

In a time where more people than ever are fleeing the campus environment, the time is now to explore what has not been explored to seek the solutions that will create the environments educators seek and desire.

We know that equity is not about providing the same support for all but providing what is needed for each person to attain the overall desired result. While there are many tools within PCT, it is not essential to use all the tools in unison. People can adapt the skills to meet the needs of their desired outcome, by using one or multiple skills. PCT recognizes that there may be some tools more useful than others depending on the scenario. However, what all the skills have in common is that they all aim to ensure the dignity of a person is maintained. Dignity is achieved through supported self-directed identification of individual needs.

My interpretation of the findings is that: Person-Centered Thinking training provided a practical approach to supporting the efforts of educators to create an equitable learning environment, regardless of their role or audience. The training equipped educators with skills that were adaptable based on their need in various scenarios. The adaptability gave them the needed flexibility to consider the whole person, rather than just relying on their perceived roles (teacher, young learner, instructional specialist, etc.). Additionally, the training resulted in areas of growth in self-efficacy, outcome expectancy related to cultural responsiveness for both participants. Even though Participant A had previously received training in cultural responsiveness and reported high levels of both self-efficacy and outcome expectancy, the post data showed growth in both areas after having received the PCT training. Identifying the potential value in PCT

training even with teachers who have received training in cultural responsiveness. Based on the findings, it is conceivable that training provided was effective with respect to development of practices associated with cultural responsiveness that support positive implications on teacher self-efficacy to create an equitable learning environment for young learners and beyond.

References

- Ashton, P. T., & Webb, R. B. (1986). Making a difference: Teachers' sense of efficacy and student achievement. NewYork: Longman.
- Au, K., & Jordan, C. (1981). Teaching reading to Hawaiian children: Finding a culturally appropriate solution. In H.Trueba, G. Guthrie, & K. Au (Eds.), Culture and the bilingual

classroom: Classroom ethnography (pp. 139–152). Rowley, MA: Newbury House.

- Avery, P. G., & Walker, C. (1993). Prospective teachers' perceptions of ethnic and gender differences in academic achievement. Journal of Teacher Education, 44(1), 27–37.
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Psychological Review, 84, 191–215.
- Bandura, A. (1978). Reflections on self-efficacy. Advances in behaviour research therapy, Vol.1. Oxford: Pergamon Press pp. 237–269.
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. American Psychologist, 37(2), 122–147.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Bandura, A. (1989). Human agency in social cognitive theory. American Psychologist, 44(9), 1175–1184.
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning.
- Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company.

Bandura, A. (2001). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. Unpublished manuscript.

- Banks, C. a. M., & Banks, J. A. (1995). Equity pedagogy: An essential component of multicultural education. *Theory Into Practice*, 34(3), 152–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849509543674
- Barry, N. H., & Lechner, J. V. (1995). Preservice teachers' attitudes about and awareness of multicultural teaching and learning. Teaching and Teacher Education, 11(2), 149–161.
- Bazin, M., Tamez, M., & the Exploratorium Teacher Institute. (2002). Math and science across cultures: Activities and investigations from the Exploratorium. New York: The New Press.
- Brocato, K. (2009). Studio Based learning: proposing, critiquing, iterating our way to Person-Centeredness for better classroom management. *Theory Into Practice*, 48(2), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405840902776459
- Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (2000). A longitudinal study of teacher burnout and perceived selfefficacy in classroom management. Teaching and Teacher Education, 16, 239–253.
- Browder, A. T. (1995). Nile Valley contributions to civilization. Washington, DC: The Institute of Karmic Guidance.
- Brown, D. F. (2003). Urban teachers' use of culturally responsive management strategies. Theory into Practice, 42(4), 277–282.
- Cabello, B., & Burnstein, N. D. (1995). Examining teachers' beliefs about teaching in culturally diverse classrooms. Journal of Teacher Education, 46(4), 285–294.
- Cattell, R. B. (1966). The scree test for the number of factors. Multivariate Behavioral Research, 1, 245–276.

- Childre, A., & Chambers, C. R. (2005). Family Perceptions of Student-Centered Planning and IEP meetings. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, 40(3), 217–233. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ754164
- Chu, S., & García, S. B. (2014). Culturally Responsive Teaching Efficacy Beliefs of In-Service Special Education Teachers. *Remedial and Special Education*, 35(4), 218–232. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932513520511
- Coladarci, T., & Breton, W. A. (1997). Teacher efficacy, supervision, and the special education resource-room teacher. Journal of Educational Research, 90(4), 230–239.
- Cooper, A., Beare, P., & Thorman, J. (1990). Preparing teachers for diversity: A comparison of student teaching experiences in Minnesota and South Texas. Action in Teacher Education, 12(3), 1–4.
- Cornelius-White, J. (2007). Learner-centered teacher-student relationships are effective: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, 77(1), 113–143. https://doi.org/10.3102/003465430298563
- Curran, M. E. (2003). Linguistic diversity and classroom management. Theory into Practice, 42(4), 334–340.
- Dilworth, M. E. (1998). Being responsive to cultural differences: How teachers learn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Doyle, W. (2009). Situated Practice: A Reflection on Person-Centered Classroom Management. *Theory Into Practice*, 48(2), 156–159. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405840902776525

- Dussault, M., Deaudelin, C., & Brodeur, M. (2004). Teachers' instructional efficacy and teachers' efficacy toward integration of information technologies in the classroom. Psychological Reports, 94, 1375–1381.
- Emmer, E. T., & Hickman, J. (1990). Teacher efficacy in classroom management and discipline. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 51, 755–765.
- Evans, R. I. (1989). Albert Bandura: The man and his ideas A dialogue. New York: Praeger Publishers.
- Fettig, A., Artman-Meeker, K., Jeon, L., & Chang, H. (2021). Promoting a Person-Centered Approach to Strengthening Early Childhood Practices that Support Social-Emotional Development. *Early Education and Development*, 33(1), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2020.1857215
- Foster, M. (1994). Effective black teachers: A literature review. In E. R. Hollins, J. E. King, & W.C. Hayman (Eds.), Teaching diverse populations: Formulating a knowledge base (pp. 225–241). New York: State University of New York.
- Freiberg, H. J., & Lamb, S. M. (2009). Dimensions of person-centered classroom management. *Theory Into Practice*, 48(2), 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405840902776228
- Freiberg, H. J., Huzinec, C. A., & Templeton, S. M. (2009). Classroom Management—a Pathway to Student Achievement: A study of fourteen Inner-City Elementary schools. *Elementary School Journal*, 110(1), 63–80. https://doi.org/10.1086/598843
- Gallego, M. A. (2001). Is experience the best teacher? The potential of coupling classroom experience and community-based field experiences. Journal of Teacher Education, 52(4), 312–325.

- Gay, G. (2000). Culturally responsive teaching: Theory, research, and practice. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Gibson, S., & Dembo, M. H. (1984). Teacher efficacy: A construct validation. Journal of Educational Psychology, 76(4), 569–582.
- Guillaume, A. M., Zuniga-Hill, C., & Yee, I. (1995). Prospective teachers' use of diversity issues in a case study analysis. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 28(2), 69–78.
- Hachfeld, A., Hahn, A., Schroeder, S., Anders, Y., & Kunter, M. (2015). Should teachers be colorblind? How multicultural and egalitarian beliefs differentially relate to aspects of teachers' professional competence for teaching in diverse classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 48, 44–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2015.02.001
- Henson, R. K., & Roberts, J. K. (2001). Exploratory factor analysis reporting practices in published research. In B. Thompson (Ed.), Advances in social science methodology, Vol. 6. Samford, CT: JAI Press.
- Henson, R.K. (2001). Teacher self-efficacy: substantive implications and measurement dilemmas. Invited keynote address given at the annual meeting of the Educational Research Exchange, College Station, Texas.
- Hilliard, A. G. (1998). SBA: The reawakening of the African mind. Gainesville, FL: Makare Publishing.
- Hollins, E. R. (1993). Assessing teacher competence for diverse populations. Theory into Practice, 32(2), 93–99.
- Hollins, E. R., & Oliver, E. I. (1999). Pathways to success in school: Culturally responsive teaching. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

How people learn II: Learners, contexts, and cultures. (2018). . National Academy Press.

Hoy, W. K., & Woolfolk, A. E. (1990). Socialization of student teachers. American Educational Research Journal, 27, 279–300.

Irvine, J. J. (1990). Black students and school failure. New York: Greenwood Press.

- Irvine, J. J., & Armento, B. J. (2001). Culturally responsive teaching: Lesson planning for elementary and middle grades. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Jolly, E., Hampton, E., & Guzman, W. (1999). Bridging homes and schools: Tools for family involvement in multilingual communities. Dubuque, IA: Kendall/Hunt Publishing.
- Jordan, C. (1985). Translating culture: From ethnographic information to educational program. Anthropology and Education Quarterly, 16(2), 102–123.
- Kaiser, H. F. (1960). The application of electronic computers to factor analysis. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 20, 141–151.
- Kingery, P. M., Holcomb, J. D., Jibaja-Rusth, M., Pruitt, B. E., & Buckner, W. P. (1994). The health teaching self-efficacy scale. Journal of Health Education, 25(2), 68–76.
- Labone, E. (2004). Teacher efficacy: Maturing the construct through research in alternative paradigms. Teaching and Teacher Education, 20, 341–359.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1994a). The dream keepers: Successful teaching for African-American students. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Ladson-Billings, G. (1994b). Who will teach our children? Preparing teachers to effectively teach African American students. In E. R. Hollins, J. E. King, & W. C. Hayman (Eds.), Teaching in diverse populations: Formulating a knowledge base (pp. 129–142). Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

- Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. Theory into Practice, 34(3), 159–165.
- Larson, K. E., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2017). Cultural competence and social desirability among practitioners: A systematic review of the literature. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 76, 100–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.02.034
- Leavell, A. G., Cowart, M., & Wilhelm, R. W. (1999). Strategies for preparing culturally responsive teachers. Equity & Excellence in Education, 32(1), 64–71.
- Lee, C., & Bobko, P. (1994). Self-efficacy beliefs: Comparisons of five measures. Journal of Applied Psychology, 79(3), 364–369.
- Lekshmi GS, D. (2021). Culturally Responsive Pedagogy: Addressing Learner Needs in Multi-Cultural Classrooms. *Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry*, *12*(3), 5500–5507.
- Mascolo, M. F. (2009). Beyond Student-Centered and Teacher-Centered Pedagogy: Teaching and Learning as Guided Participation. *Pedagogy and the Human Sciences*, 1(1), 3–27. https://scholarworks.merrimack.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1005&context=phs
- Maurer, T. J., & Pierce, H. R. (1998). A comparison of Likert scale and traditional measures of self-efficacy. Journal of Applied Psychology, 83, 324–329.
- Meichenbaum, D. (1977). Cognitive-behavior modification: An integrative approach. New York: Plenum.
- Migliarini, V., Elder, B. C., & D'Alessio, S. (2021). A DisCrit-Informed Person-Centered approach to inclusive education in Italy. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 54(4), 409– 425. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2021.2047415
- Milson, A. J., & Mehlig, L. M. (2002). Elementary school teachers' sense of efficacy for character education. The Journal of Educational Research, 96(1), 47–53.

- Mohatt, G., & Erickson, F. (1981). Cultural differences in teaching styles in an Odawa school: A sociolinguistic approach. In H. Trueba, G. Guthrie, & K. Au (Eds.), Culture and the bilingual classroom: Classroom ethnography (pp. 105–119). Rowley, MA: Newbury House.
- Moll, L. C. (1999). Writing as communication: Creating strategic learning environments for students. In E. R. Hollins, & E. I. Oliver (Eds.), Pathways to success in school: Culturally
- responsive teaching (pp. 73–84). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Murdock, T. B., & Miller, A. (2003). Teachers as sources of middle school students' motivational identity: Variable-centered and person-centered analytic approaches. *The Elementary School Journal*, 103(4), 383–399. https://doi.org/10.1086/499732
- Pajares, F. (1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. Review of Educational Research, 66, 533–578.
- Pajares, F. (2003). Self-efficacy beliefs, motivation, and achievement in writing: A review of literature. Reading and Writing Quarterly, 19, 139–158.
- Pajares, F., Hartley, J., & Valiante, G. (2001). Response format in writing self-efficacy assessment: Greater discrimination increases prediction. Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development, 33(4), 214–221.
- Pang, V. O., & Sablan, V. A. (1998). Teacher efficacy: How do teachers feel about their abilities to teach African American students? In M. E. Dilworth (Ed.), Being responsive to cultural differences: How teachers learn (pp. 39–58). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Person centered thinking. The Learning Community for Person Centered Practices. (n.d.). https://tlcpcp.com/our-work/pct/
- Person-centered thinking, planning, and practice: A national ... (n.d.). https://ncapps.acl.gov/docs/NCAPPS_ResourcesApproaches_NationalEnvironmentalS can_December2019.pdf
- Petrone, R., Rink, N., & Speicher, C. (2020). From talking about to talking with: Integrating native youth voices into teacher education via a repositioning pedagogy. *Harvard Educational Review*, 90(2), 243–268. https://doi.org/10.17763/1943-5045-90.2.243
- Phuntsog, N. (2001). Culturally responsive teaching: What do selected United States elementary school teachers think? Intercultural Education, 12(1), 51–64.
- Pond, J. W. T., & Chini, J. J. (2017). Exploring student learning profiles in Algebra-based studio physics: A person-centered approach. *Physical Review Physics Education Research*, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1103/physrevphyseducres.13.010119
- Ponterotto, J. G., Baluch, S., Greig, T., & Rivera, L. (1998). Development of the initial score validation of the teacher multicultural attitude survey. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 58(6), 1002–1016.
- Powell-Moman, A. D., & Brown-Schild, V. B. (2011). The influence of a Two-Year Professional Development Institute on Teacher Self-Efficacy and use of Inquiry-Based instruction. *Science Educator*, 20(2), 47–53. http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ960637.pdf
- Riggs, I. M., & Enochs, L. G. (1990). Toward the development of an elementary teacher's science teaching efficacy belief instrument. Science Education, 74(6), 625–637.

- Rogers, C. R. (1969b). Freedom to learn: A View of what Education Might Become. C.E. Merill Publishing Company.
- Ross, D. D., & Smith, W. (1992). Understanding preservice teachers' perspectives on diversity. Journal of Teacher Education, 43(2), 94–103.
- Rotter, J. B. (1966). Generalized expectancies for internal versus external control of reinforcement. Psychological Monographs, 80, 1–28.
- Schuhmann, A. M. (1992). Learning to teach Hispanic students. In M. E. Dilworth (Ed.), Diversity in teacher education: New expectations (pp. 93–111). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Schunk, D. (1991). Peer models and children's behavioral change. Review of Educational Research, 57, 149–174.
- Shade, B. J., Kelly, C., & Oberg, M. (1997). Creating culturally responsive classrooms. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Siwatu, K. O. (2007). Preservice teachers' culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy and outcome expectancy beliefs. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(7), 1086–1101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.07.011
- Siwatu, K. O. (2011). Preservice teachers' culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy-forming experiences: A mixed methods study. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 104(5), 360–369. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2010.487081
- Siwatu, K.O. (2006a). The development of the culturally responsive teaching competencies: Implications for teacher education. Manuscript under review.

- Siwatu, K.O. (2006b). Examining preservice teachers' culturally responsive teaching selfefficacy and outcome expectancy beliefs: A mixed method study. Manuscript under review.
- Soodak, L. C., & Podell, D. M. (1997). Efficacy and experience: Perceptions of efficacy among preservice and practicing teachers. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 30(4), 214–221.
- Soodak, L. C., & Podell, D. M. (1998). Teacher efficacy and the vulnerability of the difficultto-teach student. Advances in Research on Teaching, 7, 75–109.
- Swan, K., Chen, C.-C. B., & Bockmier-Sommers, D. K. (2020). Relationships between Carl Rogers' person-centered education and the community of Inquiry Framework: A preliminary exploration. *Online Learning*, 24(3). https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v24i3.2279
- Taylor, S. V., & Sobel, D. M. (2001). Addressing the discontinuity of students' and teachers' diversity: A preliminary study of preservice teachers' beliefs and perceived skills. Teaching and Teacher Education, 17, 487–503.
- Texas administrative code. (n.d.).

https://texreg.sos.state.tx.us/public/readtac\$ext.ViewTAC?tac_view=4&ti=22&pt=30& ch=681

Thomas, C. L., M. Tancock, S. M., Zygmunt, E. M., & Sutter, N. (2020). Effects of a Community-Engaged Teacher Preparation Program on the Culturally Relevant Teaching Self-efficacy of Preservice Teachers. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 89(2), 122–135.

- Thompson, A. M., Wiedermann, W., Herman, K. C., & Reinke, W. M. (2020). Effect of daily teacher feedback on subsequent motivation and Mental Health Outcomes in fifth grade students: A person-centered analysis. *Prevention Science*, 22(6), 775–785. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-020-01097-4
- Torok, C. E., & Aguilar, T. E. (2000). Changes in Preservice Teachers' Knowledge and Beliefs about Language Issues. Equity and Excellence in Education, 33(2), 24–31.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., & Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. Teaching and Teacher Education, 17, 783–805.
- Tschannen-Moran, M., Woolfolk Hoy, A., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher efficacy: Its meaning and measure. Review of Educational Research, 68, 202–248.
- Villegas, A. M., & Lucas, T. (2002). Educating culturally responsive teachers: A coherent approach. New York: State University of New York.
- Vogt, L., Jordan, C., & Tharp, R. (1987). Explaining school failure, producing school success:Two cases. Anthropology and Education Quarterly, 18(4), 276–286.
- Wang, M. T., Degol, J. L., Amemiya, J., Parr, A., & Guo, J. (2020). Classroom climate and children's academic and psychological wellbeing: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Developmental Review*, 57, 100912. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dr.2020.100912
- Wang, M.-T., Hofkens, T., & Ye, F. (2020). Classroom quality and adolescent student engagement and performance in mathematics: A multi-method and multi-informant approach. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 49(10), 1987–2002. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01195-0
- Wheatley, K. F. (2005). The case for reconceptualizing teacher efficacy research. Teaching and Teacher Education, 21, 747–766.

- Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2000). Changes in teacher efficacy during the early years of teaching. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Woolfolk, A. E., & Hoy, W. K. (1990). Prospective teachers' sense of efficacy and beliefs about control. Journal of Educational Psychology, 82, 81–91.
- Woolfolk, A. E., Rosoff, B., & Hoy, W. K. (1990). Teachers' sense of efficacy and their beliefs about managing students. Teaching and Teacher Education, 6, 137–148.
- Wormington, S. V., & Linnenbrink-Garcia, L. (2016). A New Look at Multiple Goal Pursuit: the Promise of a Person-Centered Approach. *Educational Psychology Review*, 29(3), 407–445. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-016-9358-2
- Zeichner, K.M., 1993. Educating teachers for cultural diversity. NCRTL special report. East Lansing, MI: National Center for Research on Teacher Learning, Michigan State University.

Appendix A

Culturally Responsive Teaching Self-Efficacy Scale Rate how confident you are in your ability to successfully accomplish each of the tasks listed below. Each task is related to teaching. Please rate your degree of confidence by recording a number from 0 (no confidence at all) to 100 (completely confident). Remember that you may use any number between 0 and 100. I am able to: 0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 No Confidence At All Moderately Confident Completely Confident

1. adapt instruction to meet the needs of my students.

2. obtain information about my students' academic strengths.

3. determine whether my students like to work alone or in a group.

4. determine whether my students feel comfortable competing with other students.

5. identify ways that the school culture (e.g., values, norms, and practices) is different from my students' home culture.

6. implement strategies to minimize the effects of the mismatch between my students' home culture and the school culture.

7. assess student learning using various types of assessments.

8. obtain information about my students' home life.

9. build a sense of trust in my students.

10. establish positive home-school relations.

11. use a variety of teaching methods.

12. develop a community of learners when my class consists of students from diverse backgrounds.

13. use my students' cultural background to help make learning meaningful.

14. use my students' prior knowledge to help them make sense of new information.

15. identify ways how students communicate at home may differ from the school norms.

16. obtain information about my students' cultural background.

17. teach students about their cultures' contributions to science.

18. greet English Language Learners with a phrase in their native language.

19. design a classroom environment using displays that reflects a variety of cultures.

20. develop a personal relationship with my students.

21. obtain information about my students' academic weaknesses.

22. praise English Language Learners for their accomplishments using a phrase in their native language.

23. identify ways that standardized tests may be biased towards linguistically diverse students.

24. communicate with parents regarding their child's educational progress.

25. structure parent-teacher conferences so that the meeting is not intimidating for parents.

26. help students to develop positive relationships with their classmates.

27. revise instructional material to include a better representation of cultural groups.

28. critically examine the curriculum to determine whether it reinforces negative cultural stereotypes.

29. design a lesson that shows how other cultural groups have made use of mathematics.

30. model classroom tasks to enhance English Language Learner's understanding.

31. communicate with the parents of English Language Learners regarding their child's achievement.

32. help students feel like important members of the classroom.

33. identify ways that standardized tests may be biased towards culturally diverse students.

34. use a learning preference inventory to gather data about how my students like to learn.

35. use examples that are familiar to students from diverse cultural backgrounds.

36. explain new concepts using examples that are taken from my students' everyday lives.

37. obtain information regarding my students' academic interests.

38. use the interests of my students to make learning meaningful for them.

39. implement cooperative learning activities for those students who like to work in groups.

40. design instruction that matches my students' developmental needs.

41. teach students about their cultures' contributions to society.

Appendix B

Culturally Responsive Teaching Outcome Expectancy Scale Read each statement below and rate your degree of certainty that the behavior will lead to the specified outcome. You may indicate your certainty by rating each statement on a scale of 0 (entirely uncertain) to 100 (completely certain). The scale below is for reference only: you do not need to use only the given values. You may assign ANY number between 0 and 100 as your degree of certainty.

1. A positive teacher-student relationship can be established by building a sense of trust in my students.

2. Incorporating a variety of teaching methods will help my students to be successful.

3. Students will be successful when instruction is adapted to meet their needs.

4. Developing a community of learners when my class consists of students from diverse cultural backgrounds will promote positive interactions between students.

5. Acknowledging the ways that the school culture is different from my students' home culture will minimize the likelihood of discipline problems.

6. Understanding the communication preferences (e.g., the value of eye-contact; protocol for participating in a conversation) of my students will decrease the likelihood of student-teacher communication problems.

7. Connecting my students' prior knowledge with new incoming information will lead to deeper learning.

8. Matching instruction to the students' learning preferences will enhance their learning.

9. Revising instructional material to include a better representation of the students' cultural group will foster positive self-images.

10. Providing English Language Learners with visual aids will enhance their understanding of assignments.

11. Students will develop an appreciation for their culture when they are taught about the contributions their culture has made over time.

12. Conveying the message that parents are an important part of the classroom will increase parent participation.

13. The likelihood of student-teacher misunderstandings decreases when my students' cultural background is understood.

14. Changing the structure of the classroom so that it is compatible with my students' home culture will increase their motivation to come to class.

15. Establishing positive home-school relations will increase parental involvement.

16. Student attendance will increase when a personal relationship between the teacher and students has been developed.

17. Assessing student learning using a variety of assessment procedures will provide a better picture of what they have learned.

18. Using my students' interests when designing instruction will increase their motivation to learn.

19. Simplifying the language used during the presentation will enhance English Language Learners comprehension of the lesson.

20. The frequency that students' abilities are misdiagnosed will decrease when their standardized test scores are interpreted with caution.

21. Encouraging students to use their native language will help them to maintain their cultural identity.

22. Students' self-esteem can be enhanced when their cultural background is valued by the teacher.

23. Helping students from diverse cultural backgrounds succeed in school will increase their confidence in their academic ability.

24. Students' academic achievement will increase when they are provided with unbiased access to the necessary learning resources.

25. Using culturally familiar examples will make learning new concepts easier.

26. When students see themselves in the pictures (e.g., posters of notable African Americans,

etc.) that are displayed in the classroom they develop a positive self-identity.

Appendix C

Interview One Questions

Did PCP alter your thoughts on how you think about supporting students in your classroom? If so, can you tell me more about this? Did PCP alter your perceptions of others in any way? If so, can you tell me more about this? Can you tell me about how you think you could use PCP in the classroom Do you feel PCP can be useful to your approach in the classroom Did you find any skill particularly useful? What about this skill makes it useful? Was there anything about PCP that you felt wasn't applicable for classroom use to support students?

Interview Two Questions

Can you tell me about after going through the person-centered thinking training, can you tell me about your choices to use or not use person-centered practices in your classroom?

Can you tell me about what the experience of applying person-centered thinking skills in your classroom has done to the environment?

Can you name any specific benefits or setbacks that you've experienced while applying personcentered practices?

Is there something specifically that you've noticed-- and this question's a little bit similar. Any specific changes that have occurred in your classroom after having started applying it? Is there anything else that you want to share with me that maybe I didn't ask you about in regard to applying it in your classroom? Specifically, how it relates to being culturally responsive, what is your experience applying person-centered practices in creating a more culturally responsive environment? Is there anything else you want to share about your experience using person-centered practices in the classroom?



Office of Research and Health Sciences

Central Academic Building, Suite 411 One University Way, San Antonio, Texas 78224 Phone: (210) 784-2317 | irb@tamusa.edu

To: Dr. Michael Mary

From: Dr. Dawn Weatherford

Date: July 5, 2023

Re: Exempt Determination: Protocol 2023-50

The IRB protocol application submitted by you titled, **"Implications of Person-Centered Practices on Teacher Self-Efficacy: to Support a More Equitable Learning Environment"** has been reviewed. This application falls under the Exempt Review, Category 3, as listed under the Code of Federal Regulations, title 45 part 46. Any changes to the Exempt research must be reviewed by the IRB in advance of implementation.

The determination for this Exempt research expires July 4, 2028.

Before the determination expires, the research will be due for renewal if it is still ongoing. Please notify the IRB Office by June 4, 2028, to avoid a pause in data collection.

Upon completion of the research, a completion report must be submitted to irb@tamusa.edu.

Dawn Weatherford, PhD IRB Chair

PLEASE NOTE: It is the responsibility of the Principal Investigator to amend their IRB protocol to add any future investigators or research team members who will be collecting or handling research data before they join the research. These individuals must be added to the approved protocol via a protocol amendment and must complete the CITI online training before they can collect and handle research data or interact with human subjects. If new individuals are added to the protocol and not trained PRIOR TO ANY HUMAN SUBJECTS CONTACT, the IRB may revoke the Principal Investigator's approval to conduct the research.

VITA

Angela Menchaca

338 Simon St. San Antonio, TX 78204

menchacaA56@gmail.com

Texas A&M San Antonio San Antonio, 2014

Bachelor of Applied Arts and Science, Psychology

San Antonio Independent School District

Campus Support Trainer, Sept. 2020 - Present

The Institute for Person-Centered Practices

Certified Person-Centered Thinking Trainer, 2019

Alamo Area Council of Governments

Ombudsman Outreach Specialist, for The State of Texas, June 2019 – 2020

Service Coordination Specialist, Aug 2016 – June 2019

Edgewood Independent School District

Parent Liaison, Aug 2014 - Aug 2016